A. <u>SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT</u>

Travis L. Padgett was convicted of various identically charged counts of rape of a child, incest, and child molestation. However, the "to convict" instructions for the numerous identically charged offenses failed to make clear that proof of any one incident could not support a finding of guilt for more than one count, in violation of the prohibition against double jeopardy.

Mr. Padgett was also convicted two counts of distribution of methamphetamine to a minor, H.M. and K.S., even though no drugs or drug paraphernalia were found during a search of his house. As to H.M., in the absence of testimony by a person with appropriate expertise in drug identification, insufficient evidence was presented to prove the substance described by H.M. was methamphetamine. As to K.S., the State introduced testimony regarding a drug test report as a business record in the absence of an adequate foundation and in violation of the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment.

Special verdicts that the sex offenses were part of an ongoing pattern of abuse over a "prolonged period of time" were fatally flawed where the court defined a "prolonged period of time" as meaning "more than a few weeks," an impermissible comment on the evidence that

relieved the State of its burden of proof. A special verdict that the sex offenses against H.M. were aggravated domestic violence offenses fails because the State did not prove each alternative means alleged. Further, when imposing the exceptional sentence, the court entered thirty-two judicial findings of fact, in addition to the judicial finding that the special verdicts constituted "substantial and compelling reasons" for the sentence, in violation of Mr. Padgett's right a due process and a jury finding of every fact essential to punishment.

B. <u>ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR</u>

- 1. Insufficient evidence was presented to establish the substance Mr. Padgett purportedly gave to H.M. was methamphetamine, an essential element of distribution of a controlled substance to a minor, H.M., as charged, in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment and Article I, section 3.
- 2. Insufficient evidence was presented to establish the methamphetamine purportedly found in K.S.'s system was provided to her by Mr. Padgett, an essential element of distribution of a controlled substance to a minor, as charged, in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment and Article I, section 3.

- 3. The trial court erroneously admitted testimony regarding a drug test report as a business record, in the absence of adequate foundation testimony regarding the identity of the person who collected the sample, the person who performed the test, the test procedure, or the mode of preparation of the report of the test results, in violation of RCW 5.45.020.
- 4. The drug test report prepared by an unidentified, nontestifying technician was admitted in violation of Mr. Padgett's Sixth Amendment right to confrontation.
- 5. Jury instructions No. 2, 11, 12, 16, and 18 exposed Mr. Padgett to multiple punishments for the same offense, in violation of the Fifth Amendment and Article I, section 9.
- 6. Jury instructions No. 2, 14, 15, 17, 19 exposed Mr. Padgett to multiple punishments for the same offense, in violation of the Fifth Amendment and Article I, section 9.
- 7. Jury instructions No. 2, 11, 33, 35 exposed Mr. Padgett to multiple punishments for the same offense, in violation of the Fifth Amendment and Article I, section 9.

- 8. Jury instructions No. 2, 32, 34, 36 exposed Mr. Padgett to multiple punishments for the same offense, in violation of the Fifth Amendment and Article I, section 9.
- 9. Jury instructions No. 40 and 41 were an improper judicial comment on the evidence, in violation of Article IV, section 16.
- 10. Jury instructions No. 40 and 41 impermissibly relieved the State of its burden of proving every element of the aggravating factor beyond a reasonable doubt, in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment and Article I, section 3.
- 11. Insufficient evidence was presented to establish each alternative means of committing aggravated domestic violence by a pattern of "psychological, physical, or sexual abuse," as charged, in violation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and Article I, sections 3 and 21.
- 12. The trial court erroneously imposed discretionary costs in the amount of \$1150 without taking into account Mr. Padgett's financial resources and the nature of the burden that payment of costs would impose, in violation of RCW 10.01.160(3).
- 13. In the absence of supporting evidence in the record, the court's boiler-plate findings "that the defendant has the means to pay

for the cost of incarceration" and "the defendant has the means to pay for any costs of medical care" were clearly erroneous.

- 14. The Felony Judgment and Sentence erroneously includes a special finding that "based upon special verdicts," the numerous counts did not encompass the same criminal conduct, in the absence of such special verdicts.
- 15. The Warrant of Commitment erroneously indicates that Mr. Padgett was convicted of Count 14, when he was acquitted of that count.
- 16. The trial court impermissibly engaged in judicial fact-finding when it entered Finding of Fact 1 32 in support of the exceptional sentence, in violation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and Article I, sections 21 and 22.
- 17. The trial court impermissibly engaged in judicial fact-finding when it found aggravated domestic violence was a "substantial and compelling reason[] justifying an exceptional sentence," in violation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and Article I, sections 21 and 22.

C. <u>ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR</u>

- 1. Due process requires the State to prove beyond a reasonable doubt every essential element of the crime charged. An essential element of the offense of distribution of a controlled substance to a minor, H.M., as charged in Count 8, was the substance was methamphetamine. In the absence of evidence to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the substance described by H.M. was methamphetamine, was Mr. Padgett's right to due process violated when he was convicted of distribution of methamphetamine to H.M.?
- 2. Due process requires the State to prove beyond a reasonable doubt every essential element of the crime charged. An essential element of the offense of distribution of a controlled substance to a minor, K.S., as charged in Count 9, was the methamphetamine found in K.S.'s system was provided by Mr. Padgett. In the absence of evidence to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Padgett provided methamphetamine to K.S., was Mr. Padgett's right to due process violated when he was convicted of distribution of methamphetamine to K.S.?
- 3. A business record may be admitted through the testimony of a custodian of the record only when the custodian testifies, *inter alia*, to

the mode of the record's preparation. RCW 5.45.020. Where a physician testified regarding a report containing the results of a drug test, but he did not conduct the test or prepare the report, he did not identify the person who collected the sample or the person who conducted the test, he did not provide meaningful information as to the testing procedure, and he did not testify regarding the mode of preparation of the report, did the trial court abuse its discretion in admitting the testimony regarding the test results as a business record?

- 4. The Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment bars admission of testimonial statements unless the declaring witness is subject to cross-examination under oath. Did admission of a drug test result offered to prove K.S. had methamphetamine in her system without testimony from the person who prepared the report deny Mr. Padgett his right to confrontation of witnesses against him?
- 5. The prohibition against double jeopardy protects an individual from multiple punishments for the same offense. Mr. Padgett was charged with three counts of rape of a child, H.M., all alleged to have occurred during the same time period, three counts of incest, all alleged to have occurred during the same time period, two counts of child molestation, both alleged to have occurred during the same time

period, and two counts of rape of a child, J.J., both alleged to have occurred during the same time period. The court's instructions failed to instruct the jury proof of any one incident could not support a finding of guilt on more than one count. Did the incomplete jury instructions permit the jury to convict Mr. Padgett multiple times for a single incident, in violation of double jeopardy?

6. A trial court may not comment on the evidence. Here, when instructing on the aggravating circumstance that "the crime was part of an ongoing pattern of sexual abuse of the same victim under the age of 18 years manifested by multiple incidents over a prolonged period of time," the judge instructed the jurors that "prolonged period of time" meant "more than a few weeks." When instructing on the aggravating circumstance that "the crime is an aggravated domestic violence offense," the court instructed, "an 'ongoing pattern of abuse' means multiple incidents of abuse over a prolonged period of time" and, again, that "prolonged period of time" meant "more than a few weeks." Did these instructions constitute an improper judicial comment on the evidence?

7. Due process requires the State to prove beyond a reasonable doubt every essential element of an aggravating circumstance. An

domestic violence requires the State to prove beyond a reasonable doubt multiple incidents occurred over a prolonged period of time.

Where the court repeatedly instructed the jurors that a "prolonged period of time" meant "more than a few weeks," did these instructions relieve the State of its burden of proof, in violation of Mr. Padgett's right to due process?

- 8. When an aggravating circumstance may be committed by alternative means and the State fails to elect which means it is relying for an enhanced sentence, a defendant's right to jury unanimity and to due process requires substantial evidence to support all means presented to the jury. Where the State failed to elect which of three means it was relying on for the aggravating circumstance of aggravated domestic violence based on an ongoing pattern of "psychological, physical, or sexual abuse," and the jury was instructed on all three alternative means but did not present substantial evidence to support all means, did these instructions relieve the State of its burden of proof, in violation of Mr. Padgett's right to due process?
- 9. A court may not order a defendant to pay discretionary costs unless it conducts an individualized inquiry and determines the

defendant can or will be able to pay the costs, taking into account the financial resources of the defendant and the nature of the burden that payment of costs will impose. Where the court imposed discretionary costs in the amount of \$1150 without making the requisite inquiry into Mr. Padgett's present or future ability to pay those costs, must this matter be remanded for a new sentencing hearing

- 10. In the absence of any evidence regarding Mr. Padgett's current or future ability to pay costs, was the court's boilerplate finding that he had the means to pay for the cost of incarceration and medical care clearly erroneous?
- 11. Is remand required for entry of a corrected Felony Judgment and Sentence when the judgment erroneously indicates special verdicts were entered on "same criminal conduct"?
- 12. Is remand required for entry of a corrected Warrant of Commitment when the warrant erroneously includes Count 14, when Mr. Padgett was acquitted of that charge?
- 13. The constitutional right to jury trial and proof beyond a reasonable doubt prohibit a court from imposing an exceptional sentence without a jury determination beyond a reasonable doubt of the facts essential to the punishment. Where the court entered thirty-two

judicial findings of fact without a jury finding of those facts beyond a reasonable doubt, must this matter be remanded for a new sentencing hearing?

14. The constitutional right to jury trial and proof beyond a reasonable doubt prohibit a court from imposing an exceptional sentence without a jury determination beyond a reasonable doubt of the facts essential to the punishment. Where the court found the special verdict of aggravated domestic violence constituted a "substantial and compelling reason" to impose an exceptional sentence above the standard range, was this a judicial fact-finding in violation of Mr. Padgett's right to trial by jury?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In July 2012, Travis L. Padgett gained custody of his fourteen-year-old son, H.M., following accusations by H.M. that his mother and step-father were physically and verbally abusive to him. 10/15/13 RP 734; 10/16/13 RP 833; 10/18/13 RP 1136. In January 2013, H.M. called his mother and stated he wanted to run away and Mr. Padgett was using drugs. 10/18/13 RP 1142-43, 1145. His mother called the police for a child welfare check and Officer Bradley Althouser went to Mr. Padgett's home. 10/14/13 RP 540-41, 543; 10/18/13 RP 1145. Mr.

Padgett was not home but H.M. answered the door. 10/14/13 RP 544. According to Officer Althouser, H.M. reported "sometimes his dad abuses him. He tries to get him to do meth, and he has women over to the house, stuff that makes him uncomfortable." 10/14/13 RP 549.

The following morning, H.M.'s school resource officer took him to the police station where he was interviewed by Detective Curtis Oja. 10/14/13 RP 547, 555-56, 558, 581. In the interview, H.M. reported he was sexually abused by Mr. Padgett, Mr. Padgett smoked and ingested methamphetamine, and he gave H.M. drugs "on a regular basis." 10/14/13 RP 625-27. Detective Oja obtained a court order for H.M. to place a one-party consent recorded telephone call to Mr. Padgett. 10/14/13 RP 589-90. H.M. made three successive calls, in which he accused Mr. Padgett of using drugs and having sex with him. 10/14/13 RP 601-02; Ex. 2, 42. Mr. Padgett vehemently denied the accusations and ended each call by hanging up. 10/14/13 RP 602; Ex. 2, 42. About one hour later, Mr. Padgett went to the police station believing H.M. had been picked up as a run-away, and he was arrested. 10/14/13 RP 631, 636. According to Detective Oja, Mr. Padgett was "totally surprised" by the arrest. 10/14/13 RP 632.

Detective Oja and Detective Michael Durbin executed a search warrant for Mr. Padgett's home. 10/14/13 RP 602. No one answered their knock on the front door, but when they entered the home, fourteen-year-old K.S. was discovered in the basement. 10/14/13 RP 607, 649-50. K.S. stated she and Mr. Padgett used methamphetamine five or six hours prior to the search. 10/14/13 RP 659-60, 665. In the basement, where Mr. Padgett had a bedroom, an office, and a utility area, they found numerous sex toys, including lubricant, male enhancement drugs, and pornographic videos. 10/14/13 RP 609-12, 614-17, 674-75. No drugs or drug paraphernalia were in the home. 10/14/13 RP 628-29. Several days later, Detective Oja interviewed J.J., a friend of H.M., who reported he spent many weekends at Mr. Padgett's home and he was "involved in the some of the acts as well." 10/14/13 RP 585-86.

Mr. Padgett was charged with three counts of rape of child in the third degree regarding H.M., all alleged to have occurred during the same charging period, three counts of incest in the first degree, all alleged to have occurred in the same charging period, communication with a minor for immoral purposes regarding K.S., one count of distribution of methamphetamine to a minor regarding H.M., one count

of distribution of methamphetamine to a minor regarding K.S., two counts of child molestation in the third degree regarding J.J., both alleged to have occurred during the same charging period, two counts of rape of a child in the third degree regarding J.J., both alleged to have occurred in the same charging period, and one count of child molestation in the third degree regarding J.J., alleged to have occurred on or about August 1, 2012. CP 14-19.

At trial, H.M. testified Mr. Padgett regularly initiated sexual relations with him, and H.M.'s friend, J.J., eventually joined in the sexual activities with Mr. Padgett, Mr. Padgett's girlfriend, and H.M. 10/15/13 RP 751, 754, 757-58, 760, 762-63, 765-67, 770, 772, 796-801, 805, 818. In addition, H.M. testified that Mr. Padgett gave him methamphetamine on various occasions. 10/15/13 RP 780, 782, 784, 787, 801-03, 806. However, there was no evidence that H.M. had any particular experience from which he could accurately identify methamphetamine.

Donna Howell, a nurse at Yakima Regional Hospital, examined H.M. after Mr. Padgett was arrested. 10/17/13 RP 1049, 1050, 1054. H.M. reported he had sexual relations with Mr. Padgett and with older women who came to the house, and Mr. Padgett gave him "weed, meth

and alcohol." 10/17/13 RP 1051-52, 1055. Even so, Ms. Howell apparently did not request a drug screen test for H.M.

Fifteen-year old J.J. testified that he spent most weekends at Mr. Padgett's home after H.M. moved in. 10/17/13 RP 922, 927, 930.

Nothing remarkable occurred for the first five or six weekends, but at some point in time he watched pornographic videos, he observed Mr. Padgett and H.M. engage in oral and anal sex, and he eventually participated. 10/17/13 RP 931-32, 933, 934, 974-75. J.J. denied observing any drugs or drug use at Mr. Padgett's house. 10/17/13 RP 951, 982.

Deidre Demel, a nurse at Yakima Regional Hospital, examined J.J. 10/17/13 RP 1062-63. Contrary to J.J.'s sworn testimony, Ms. Demel stated that J.J. reported H.M. and Mr. Padgett used drugs and alcohol. 10/17/13 RP 1059-60, 1062-63.

Fifteen-year old D.B., a friend of H.M., testified that he went over to Mr. Padgett's house several times, and H.M. gave him beer one time and showed him a pornographic video, but he never observed any drugs at the house. 10/18/13 RP 1080, 1082, 1088, 1089, 1091.

K.S. testified that she went to Mr. Padgett's house to get methamphetamine. 10/18/13 RP 1094. She stated that she smoked

methamphetamine with Mr. Padgett in H.M.'s presence, and she had taken methamphetamine shortly before the detectives executed the search warrant. 10/18/13 RP 1099-1100.

Trish McDougall, a nurse at Memorial Hospital, saw K.S. when a police officer brought her to the hospital. 10/17/13 RP 901-02, 903, 906. According to Ms. McDougall, K.S. reported that she performed oral sex on "Travis," she used methamphetamine the previous day, and she had a history of cocaine and marijuana use. 10/17/13 RP 919. Dr. Wyatt Rivas ordered a drug test. 10/21/13 RP 1189. Over defense objection, Dr. Rivas testified that the drug test came back positive for methamphetamine and marijuana. 10/21/13 RP 1191. He explained that methamphetamine stays in one's system for several days and marijuana stays in one's system for several days and marijuana when a drug was ingested. 10/21/13 RP 1192-93.

Shannon McIntosh testified she had known Mr. Padgett for approximately twenty years. 10/22/13 RP 1241. She served eight years in prison for conspiracy to distribute methamphetamine, but following her release in 2008, she successfully completed parole and remained clean since that time. 10/22/13 RP 1241-42. She reconnected with Mr.

Padgett and she never saw drugs or drug use at Mr. Padgett's house. 10/22/13 RP 1243-44.

Cristobel Guillen, a friend of Mr. Padgett and president of the Association of Washington State Hispanics, testified that Mr. Padgett did some contract work providing technical support for the association. 10/22/13 RP 1264, 1265-66. Due to Mr. Padgett's history of drug use, he required Mr. Padgett to participate in random urinalysis testing, all of which were clean. 10/22/13 RP 1267, 1278-79. He never observed any inappropriate behavior between Mr. Padgett and H.M. 10/22/13 RP 1270, 1271-72, 1276.

Mr. Padgett testified and categorically denied having sexual contact with H.M., J.J., or K.S. 10/22/13 RP 1321, 1327, 1331, 1334, 1335-36, 1343. He acknowledged he had a past history of methamphetamine abuse but he had been drug free for five or six years by the time of trial. 10/22/13 RP 1314, 1330.

Mr. Padgett was convicted of all charges except the one count of child molestation in the third degree regarding J.J., alleged to have occurred on August 1, 2012. CP 219-32. The jury returned special verdicts that the sex offenses against H.M. were part of an ongoing

pattern of sexual abuse manifested by multiple incidents over a prolonged period of time and the current offenses involved aggravated domestic violence. CP 233-38. The jury also returned a special verdict that the offenses against J.J. were part of an ongoing patter of sexual abuse manifested by multiple incidents over a prolonged period of time. CP 239-42.

Mr. Padgett was sentenced to an exceptional sentence of 360 months. CP 468.

Additional facts are discussed in the relevant argument sections below.

E. ARGUMENT

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