FILED

MAY 13, 2016

Court of Appeals

Division III

State of Washington

NO. 32927-5-III

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION III

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Appellant,

V.

TRAVIS L. PADGETT,

Respondent.

AMENDED BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Kenneth L. Ramm WSBA #16500 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

JOSEPH A. BRUSIC Yakima County Prosecuting Attorney 128 N. 2d St. Rm. 329 Yakima, WA 98901-2621

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

As regards to the identity of the substance given to K.S., she reported to both Dr. Rivas and to Nurse McDougall, that she was experience with the use of several drugs, to include methamphetamine, cocaine, mushrooms and marijuana. (10/17/13 RP 919; 10/21/13 RP 1189). K.S. stated that she had gone to Padgett's house because she knew he had meth. (10/18/13 RP 1094-95). K.S. further testified that she was together in the basement with Padgett, H.M. and April. They were there smoking meth. (10/18/13 RP 1100). K.S. also stated that she originally met Padgett through her friend Larissa, who dealt meth to him. (10/18/13 RP 1104). Detective Durban

made several observation regarding K.S. He testified that it appeared that she had life experience that far exceeded her age. Descriptions of acts and things, and in general terms, that he thought that a normal 14-year old would find shocking or troubling she said with ease or with a matter of fact-ness. She seemed very experienced sexually, and that it appeared that sex was not an intimate thing but more of a form of business or a commodity, which Detective Durbin found shocking. (10/14/13 RP 662). Detective Durbin further testified that K.S. had told him that she and Padgett had ingested methamphetamine within hours of the service of their search warrant. (10/14/13 RP 665). Along with the positive drug test screen for methamphetamine from the hospital through the testimony of Dr. Rivas, there was more than sufficient evidence presented to the jury regarding the identity of the substance as methamphetamine.

- B. The testimony of Dr. Rivas regarding the drug screen results of K.S. that he ordered as part of her treatment was properly admitted as a business record and was nontestimonial under a confrontation right analysis.
 - 1. The State presented a proper foundation regarding the admission of the drug screen test ordered by Dr. Rivas for his patient K.S

Medical records are admissible as an exception to the hearsay rule under the business records exception under ER 803(a)(6). In <u>State v.</u> <u>Garrett.</u> 76 Wn. App. 719, 887 P.2d 488 (1995), the court held that under

the Uniform Business Records as Evidence Act, "[a] record of an act, condition or event, shall in so far as relevant, be competent evidence if the custodian or other qualified witness testifies to its identity and the mode of its preparation, and if it was made in the regular course of business, at or near the time of the act, condition or event, and if, in the opinion of the court, the sources of information, method and time of preparation were such as to justify its admission. RCW 5.45.020." Id. at 721-22.

The <u>Garrett</u> further stated that "the trial court's decision to admit business records is reviewed only for a manifest abuse of discretion. *State v. Ziegler*, 114 Wn.2d 533, 538, 789 P.2d 79 (1990); *State v. Alexander*, 64 Wn. App. 147, 156, 822 P.2d 1250 (1992)." <u>Id</u>. At 722.

In <u>State v. Ziegler</u>, 114 Wn.2d 533, 789 P.2d 79 (1990), the court was presented with a very similar situation as to this case. At trial in Ziegler, Dr. Bradley Gerrish, a partner to the treating physical Dr. Bishop, testified from the medical file of the victim, that a laboratory report showed that the victim had contracted Chlamydia, a sexually transmitted disease. The trial court admitted the test results over defense objection. The Ziegler court held that "the UBRA, RCW 5.45.020, makes evidence that would otherwise be hearsay competent testimony. The UBRA contemplates that business records are presumptively reliable if made in the regular course of business and there was no apparent motive to falsify." Ziegler, supra at 537-38.

The <u>Ziegler</u> court further set for the requirements for the admission of such records, "[t]he UBRA contains five requirements for admissibility designed to ensure reliability. To be admissible in evidence a business record must (1) be in record for, (2) be of an act, condition or event, (3) be made in the regular course of business, (4) be made at or near the time of the act, condition or event, and (5) the court must be satisfied that the sources of information, method, and time of preparation justify the admittance of the evidence." Id at 538.

The testimony of both Dr. Rivas and Nurse McDougall, established the requirements of the UBRA. The official medical record of K.S. was in record form. The record was of the medical examination while she was at Yakima Valley Memorial Hospital. The record, as well as the drug screen test, was made in the regular course of business used to provide treatment to K.S. The drug screen test was made at the time of the treatment. And Dr. Rivas testified as to its preparation and his reliance upon the information to treat K.S.

The <u>Ziegler</u> court found that the purpose of the UBRA, "[a]s applied to hospital records, compliance with the act obviates the necessity, expense, inconvenience, and sometimes impossibility of calling as witnesses the attendants, nurses, physicians, X ray technicians, laboratory and other hospital employees who collaborated to make the hospital record of the

patient. It is not necessary to examine the person who actually created the record so long as it is produced by one who has the custody of the record as a regular part of his work or has supervision of its creation."

Thus, in this case, the trial court did not manifestly abuse its discretion by admitted the drug screen test of K.S.

2. The admission of the drug screen test ordered by Dr.Rivas for his patient K.S. as part of her treatment at the Hospital did not violate Padgett's Sixth Amendment right to confrontation.

The appellant asserts that the trial court violated his Sixth Amendment right to confrontation by the admission of the drug screen test results conducted by Dr. Rivas in his treatment of K.S. at Yakima Valley Memorial Hospital. The cites cases that deal with laboratory testing that were created for purposes of litigation.

In <u>State v. Doerflinger</u>, 170 Wn. App. 650, 285 P.3d 217 (2012), the court held that the radiologist's findings of a nasal facture sustained during an assault and testified to by his treating physician at trial. The court held that they were nontestimonial, in that "[t]hey were prepared not to establish Clark's culpability, but to determine the extent of Palmer's injuries. Nor where they prepared in the form of an extrajudicial sworn or certified statement to be used as a substitute for testimony in court." <u>Doerflinger</u>, supra at 660. The further pointed out that in *Melendez-Diaz* held that

"medical reports created for treatment purposes Would not be testimonial under our decision today." <u>Id</u>. at 661.

Clearly the drug screen was ordered by Dr. Rivas as a routine practice under circumstances of his examination and treatment of K.S., and thus there are clearly nontestimonial and their admission did not violate the appellant's Sixth Amendment right to confrontation.

- C. The "to-convict" jury instructions for the multiple counts of sexual assault provided more than sufficient guidance to the jury for them to find separate and distinct conduct for the jury to be unanimous as to the act and the jury instructions made the relevant legal standard manifestly apparent to the average juror.
 - 1. The jury instructions clearly made it "manifestly apparent" that proof of each count had to be separate and distinct.

The appellant alleges that the jury instructions for multiple counts of sexual assault against H.M. and J.J. violated his right against double jeopardy. His main point is that although each count had language that "one particular act, a separate and distinct act" must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt, the jury was not instructed that "the separate and distinct act could not support more than one count." (Brief of Appellant, page 37). The language that the appellant would require is redundant to the language of "one particular act, a separate and distinct act."

In <u>State v. Borsheim</u>, 140 Wn. App. 357, 165 P.3d 417 (2007), the court reiterated the requirement that "in sexual abuse cases where multiple identical counts are alleged to have occurred with the same charging period, the trial court must instruct the jury "that they are to find 'separate and distinct acts' for each count." <u>Id.</u> at 367. The <u>Borsheim</u> court noted the problems with the jury instructions in that case as

[the instructions] did not, however, convey the need to base each charged count on a "separate and distinct" underlying event. Similarly, although instruction 4 states that "a separate crime is charged in each count," neither this instruction nor any other informed the jury that each "crime" required proof of a different act. Finally, instruction 9, the "to convict" instruction, states that each of the elements of the crime must be proved "as to each count." However, this instruction does not state that the first such element, "sexual intercourse with [B.G.]," requires a finding of a "separate and distinct" act of sexual intercourse for each count on which a conviction is rendered.

Borsheim, supra at 367.

The jury instructions in the present case do not have those same infirmities. The jury was instructed in separate "to-convict" instructions for each count. (CP 176, 179, 180, 181, 182, 183, 197, 198, 199, 200). Also, each count had language that "one particular act, a separate and distinct act" must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt, as to each of the counts listed above. Also, the jury had a separate instruction which stated:

The State of Washington alleges that the defendant committed acts of [crime listed] on multiple occasions. To convict the defendant on any count of [crime listed], one particular act, a

separate and distinct act, of [crime listed] must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt, and you must unanimously agree as to which act has been proved. You need not unanimously agree that the defendant committed all the acts of [crime listed].

CP 175, 178, 196. A separate instruction for the crimes of third degree rape of a child, first degree incest, and third degree child molestation was provided to the jury.

In <u>State v. Mutch</u>, 171 Wn.2d 646, 254 P.3d 803 (2011), the court found that the jury instructions in that was were faulty since "they failed to include sufficiently distinctive "to convict" instructions or an instruction that each count must be based on separate and distinct criminal act." <u>Id</u>. at 662. Although finding the instructions lacking, the <u>Mutch</u> court conducted a further analysis, stating

"[t]his court has established that '[i]n reviewing allegations of double jeopardy, an appellate court may review the entire record to establish what was before the court.'... [w]hile the court may look to the entire trial record when considering a double jeopardy claim, we note that our review is rigorous and is among the strictest. Considering the evidence, arguments and instructions, if it is not clear that it was "manifestly apparent to the jury that the State [was] not seeking to impose multiple punishments for the same offense" and that each count was based on a separate act, there is a double jeopardy violation.

Mutch, supra at 664.

Contrary to the appellant's argument, State's trial counsel clearly delineated the separate and distinct act in which each count was based upon. The State made an election as to each count. (10/24/13 RP 1504, 1506-12,

1516-18). Thus there was not double jeopardy violation. (See also <u>State v. Chenoweth</u>, 185 Wn.2d 218, ___ P.3d ___ (2016), "[w]e have held – for purposes of a double jeopardy analysis and in examining whether multiple offenses constitute the same criminal conduct – that rape of a child and incest are separate crimes because they involve distinct criminal intents.).

- C. The court's instructions that a "prolonged period of time" meant "more than a few weeks" was an impermissible comment on the evidence, but the error was harmless.
 - 1. The State concedes that the jury instruction was erroneous, however, no prejudice resulted in its use.

In <u>State v. Brush</u>, 183 Wn.2d 550, 353 P.3d 213 (2015), the Supreme Court held that his instruction that included the language "the term 'prolonged period of time' means more than a few weeks" was an impermissible comment on the evidence and it incorrectly stated the law. The court further stated that "[j]udicial comments are presumed to be prejudicial, and the burden is on the State to show that the defendant was not prejudiced, unless the record affirmatively shows that no prejudice could have resulted." <u>Brush</u>, <u>supra</u> at 559.

Under the circumstances of the present case, this court can conclude that the appellant suffered no prejudice here. The Supreme Court was specifically troubled in Brush by the fact that Brush's prior abuse of his victim had occurred over a span of time "just longer than a few weeks" prior to her murder. Brush, supra at 559. In light of this period of time, the Brush court concluded that a "straightforward application of the jury instruction would likely lead a jury to conclude that the abuse in this case met the give definition of a 'prolonged period of time.'" Id. Accordingly, the Supreme Court concluded that the State could not meet its high burden of showing an absence of prejudice. Id. The pattern of abuse in the present case took place of a period of 5 months. The first instance of sexual abuse was arguably in September, 2012, and last in January, 2013. (10/15/13 RP 752-754, 808, 819). Since the jury convicted the appellant as to the various counts of sexual abuse over that five month period, clearly that met the definition of a "prolonged period of time."

2. The State presented substantial evidence to support each alternative of aggravated domestic violence.

Contrary to the appellant's argument, the State presented sufficient evidence to support the jury's finding that the offense was "part of an ongoing pattern of psychological, physical or sexual abuse." The appellant argues that the Legislature intended that the sexual abuse be separate and distinct from both physical abuse and psychological abuse, citing State v. Roggenkamp, 153 Wn.2d 614, 625-26, 106 P.3d 196 (2005). Roggenkamp does not support the argument that there must be separate and distinct facts

to support the alternative mean. In <u>State v. Ortega-Martinez</u>, 124 Wn.2d 702, 881 P.2d 231 (1994), the court held that

The threshold test governing whether unanimity is required on an underlying means of committing a crime is whether sufficient evidence exists to support each of the alternative means presented to the jury. If the evidence is sufficient to support each of the alternative means submitted to the jury, a particularized expression of unanimity as to the means by which the defendant committed the crime is unnecessary to affirm a conviction because we infer that the jury rested its decision on a unanimous find as to the means.

Ortega-Martinez, supra at 707-08. There is no requirement that the acts be separate and distinct within any means. There was sufficient evidence of all three means. The acts themselves were sexual abuse, which encompassed both a physical component and a psychological component. H.M. described the psychological impact of the abuse. (10/15/13 RP 809, 815; 10/17/13 RP 1055).

D. The court's determination of the defendant's ability to pay legal financial obligation should not be considered for the first time on appeal.

The appellant relies on <u>State v. Blazina</u>, 182 Wn.2d 827, 344 P.3d 680 (2015) to support discretionary review of legal financial obligations (LFOs) and concedes that this issue was never raised below. (Brief of Appellant at 50). It is commonly accepted that a party may not raise a new argument on appeal that was not raised before the trial court. <u>State v. Strine</u>, 176 Wn.2d 742, 749, 293 P.3d 1177 (2013); RAP 2.5(a). Post-*Blazina*

courts have held that failure to object to the imposition of LFOs at sentencing waives the issue on appeal unless the appellate court utilizes its discretion to permit review of the issue. State v. Lyle, 188 Wn. App. 848, 853, 355 P.3d 327 (2015). This Court recently identified several reasons to decline to address issues not raised at the trial court level which are compelling.

Good sense lies behind the requirement that arguments be first asserted at trial. The prerequisite affords the trial court an opportunity to rule correctly on a matter before it can be presented on appeal. There is great potential for abuse when a party does not raise an issue below because a party so situated could simply lie back, not allowing the trial court to avoid the potential prejudice, gamble on the verdict, and then seek a new trial on appeal.

State v. Stoddard, 192 Wn. App. 222, 366 P.3d 474 (2016). Even the *Blazina* Court recognized that: "A defendant who makes no objection to the imposition of discretionary LFOs at sentencing is not automatically entitled to review." 182 Wn.2d at 832. The appellant did not challenge LFOs below, and he should not be allowed to do so now.

E. The trial court should be directed to correct the clerical errors in the Judgment and Sentence.

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